**RECEIVED**

**Dec 20 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARVIN DONTE BRYAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001468

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in ruling Appellant could not impeach Daquan Gilliard with a 2014 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, where the court ruled the conviction was not a crime of dishonesty and was thus inadmissible pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, since admissibility was instead controlled by Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, because the crime was punishable in excess of one year?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in ruling Appellant could not cross-examine Daquan Gilliard regarding his prior conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, since Appellant was entitled to considerable latitude in cross-examining his accuser?

3.

Whether the trial court erred in ruling Appellant was not permitted to cross-examine Daquan Gilliard about a pending charge, since generally, anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered?

4.

Whether the trial court erred in ruling the record was adequately reconstructed, given the passage of six years' time, since the record must be sufficiently specific for meaningful appellate review and must be such that incompleteness does not effectively foreclose any collateral challenge through post-conviction relief or otherwise?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 13, 2017, a Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Marvin Bryan, Appellant, for one count of murder and three counts of attempted murder. Appellant was tried jointly with his codefendant, Justin Martel Wilson, from June 19 – 23, 2017, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. Appellant was represented by Bentley Price. Wilson was represented by Mark Peper. E. Culver Kidd, IV, and Charles Patrick, III, prosecuted the case.<sup>1</sup>

Petitioner was convicted as indicted, and he was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of fifty years for murder and thirty years for each count of attempted murder.<sup>2</sup>

On June 28, 2017, Appellant served his notice of intent to appeal his convictions and sentences. On August 22, 2018, Appellant moved this Court for an order to reconstruct the record of the bench conferences from trial. On August 29, 2018, the State made its return. On November 8, 2018, this Court issued an order in which it granted the motion to remand for reconstruction and remanded the matter to the Charleston County Court of General Sessions. On August 8, 2023, a reconstruction hearing was held before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Undersigned counsel represented Appellant. Tommy Evans, Jr., represented the State. The court found the record was reconstructed. On August 11, 2023, Appellant served his notice of intent to appeal the trial court's ruling that the record was adequately constructed.<sup>3</sup>

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> R. 1171 – 1178; R. 1.

<sup>2</sup> R. 1006, l. 16 – 1007, l. 24; R. 1047, l. 25 – 1048, l. 10; R. 1179 – 1182.

<sup>3</sup> R. 1089 – 1090; R. 1162, ll. 7-18.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State alleged that at approximately 2:00 a.m. on November 22, 2015, in North Charleston, Appellant was with codefendants Justin Wilson, Daquan Gilliard, and Keith Evans in a Ford Edge when Wilson shot into a Dodge Charger. Someone in the Charger shot back and a chase ensued, with both cars crashing into a ball field in Park Circle. Wilson continued to fire into the Charger even as he got out and ran away. All of the occupants of the Charger were shot: Franklin Williams was killed; Montez Capers, Quran Allen, and Adrian Williams were wounded.<sup>4</sup>

At 2:19 a.m., approximately ten or fifteen minutes after the shooting, Officer Charles Martin saw three men running down the street about one hundred and fifty yards away from the crime scene. Officer Martin stopped and frisked the men and got their names—Appellant, Keith Evans, and Daquan Gilliard. Martin noticed that Gilliard had a wet shirt. Martin questioned the three men but let them go.<sup>5</sup>

Another officer canvassing the area found three guns about a block or block-and-a-half away from the crashed cars, in a flower bed and near a power pole. The guns were a “TABCO” rifle, a Smith & Wesson .40 caliber handgun, and a Glock handgun. Law enforcement collected two McDonald’s cups from the crashed Ford Edge; there was spilled liquid in the car. DNA analyses showed the straws from the cups contained DNA consistent with DNA from Appellant and from Keith Evans.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> R. 110, l. 19 – 113, l. 3; R. 123, l. 4 – 136, l. 16; R. 213, l. 14 – 224, l. 18; R. 209, l. 11 – 211, l. 2; R. 248, l. 9 – 252, l. 5; R. 319, ll. 15-17.

<sup>5</sup> R. 254, l. 23 – 258, l. 11; R. 262, l. 17 – 271, l. 10.

<sup>6</sup> R. 295, l. 9 – 304, l. 25; R. 350, l. 5 – 353, l. 18; R. 529, l. 17 – 531, l. 17.

Domonique Edwards would testify Keith Evans and Justin Wilson came by his house the morning of November 22, 2015, and asked Edwards to alibi them and say they had been with Edwards earlier. Edwards refused.<sup>7</sup>

The evidence regarding the identity of those responsible for the shooting came from two men: Keith Evans and Daquan Gilliard. Both Evans and Gilliard were charged with the murder and attempted murders in this case, but both testified for the prosecution at the joint trial of Appellant and Wilson. Evans and Gilliard claimed they were merely present and that Wilson was the shooter. They also claimed Appellant handed Wilson a second gun when the first gun he was using jammed.<sup>8</sup>

Daquan Gilliard was the first witness called by the State. Gilliard claimed mere presence: “I was just in the car.” Gilliard met with the prosecutor twice regarding his testimony, and said he was hoping for “leniency.” Gilliard admitted he had lied during his proffer. According to Gilliard, Justin Wilson got a call the night of the shooting and was told the guy who had previously shot him (Wilson) was out at a nightclub. Gilliard alleged he went to Wilson’s cousin’s house with Wilson, Appellant, and Keith Evans. According to Gilliard, Wilson went in the house and came out with a big gun wrapped in a shirt or sheet. Gilliard alleged Wilson told Evans, the driver, they were looking for a black Lincoln. They did not find the black Lincoln, but Wilson saw a red Charger, and said, “That’s the boy right there.” When the Charger stopped at a red light, Gilliard alleged Wilson rolled down his window and began firing into the Charger.

---

<sup>7</sup> R. 558, l. 4 – 564, l. 19.

<sup>8</sup> R. 145, ll. 11-16; R. 128, l. 13 – 130, l. 15; R. 583, l. 19 – 584, l. 15; R. 609, l. 2 – 612, l. 6; R. 683, 19, ll. 3-5; R. 705, ll. 2-18.

After about ten shots, the gun jammed. Gilliard claimed Wilson asked for another gun and Appellant gave him a .40 caliber handgun. According to Gilliard, Wilson continued to shoot.<sup>9</sup>

Appellant sought to impeach Gilliard with a prior conviction for possession with intent to distribute (PWID) cocaine with a conviction date of June 2014 for an arrest from 2013. As seen, this trial took place in 2017. Appellant also sought to use the prior conviction to show “that he [Gilliard] has been in a courtroom before. This isn’t his first time. He’s been convicted before.”<sup>10</sup>

The court found the prior conviction inadmissible, and explained its reasoning as follows.

The rules are clear that evidence of a witness, evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime, shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement regardless of punishment. However, **the Supreme Court has clarified that they do not find drug offenses to be dispositive of truthfulness or dishonesty . . . the whole purpose of using a prior crime to impeach somebody’s credibility is it involved false statement or dishonesty. A crime in and of itself does not impeach a person’s credibility.** It more tends to involve their character. In other words, saying because they were convicted of something that they are a bad person and you shouldn’t believe them, **The only exception to that rule is 609(b) [sic] which deals with crimes of dishonesty or involving moral turpitude.** Because then that implicates the person’s veracity. . .

**609(a)(2) says evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement regardless of punishment. . .** However, our Supreme Court has gone on to interpret that provision of the rule, and it is articulated that only offenses involving dishonesty or false statement come in, And further articulated that a firearms violation is not probative of truthfulness; narcotics are not probative; and those are all State versus Bryant, State versus Johnson, State versus—State versus Bryant again, State versus Cheeseboro (ph), and Green versus State.

---

<sup>9</sup> R. 84, ll. 11-12; R. 175, ll. 5-14; R. 145, ll. 20-25; R. 167, l. 6 – 168, l. 11; R. 114, l. 22 – 130, l. 15; R. 124, ll. 2-3.

<sup>10</sup> R. 149, l. 4 – 150, l. 18; R. 149, l. 4 – 157, l. 25; R. 1; R. 151, ll. 7-10.

Now, if they impersonated a police officer, of course, that involved dishonesty. Shoplifting involves dishonesty as long as it was a theft. Burglary is dishonesty as long as it involved a theft. **And even if it involved all those things, I would still have to engage in the balancing test that its more probative then prejudicial, which means—and of course in this case I think it would meet that standard because credibility is an issue.** But I think when you start talking about drug offenses, it's more of a character issue than a truthfulness issue. Because you're saying by virtue of the fact that they've been convicted of a drug offense, they shouldn't be believed because they're dishonest. . .

I would rule that's inadmissible. It is not probative because the Supreme Court has ruled that when interpreting Rules of Evidence, 609(b) [sic], that convictions involving dishonesty or false statement come in regardless of punishment. However, our Supreme Court has clarified that drug offenses are generally not probative of truthfulness. . .

And it would be elicited to impeach his character not probative on his truthfulness or his veracity under these circumstances. But, however, if he had some offenses that involved dishonesty or false statement, they would come in regardless of punishment.<sup>11</sup>

Appellant next sought to cross-examine Gilliard about a pending charge in Orangeburg County for carrying a firearm on school grounds. "I think it just goes to, again, he has indicated on direct that he is here today to get leniency. And I, of course, was going to ask him on all of his charges." The court ruled Appellant could not get into the Orangeburg charge: "The only thing that's relevant is what's pending in Charleston, and if he thinks he's going to get a deal as a result of that . . . unless you have some indication that Charleston prosecutor and Orangeburg prosecutor have worked out some deal." "You're going to have to connect the dots. You're going to have to prove . . . he expects to get some leniency from Orangeburg. They have no obligation. I've been in this system way too long where they don't. Otherwise, it's speculative."<sup>12</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> R. 151, l. 16 – 157, l. 25 (emphasis added).

<sup>12</sup> R. 155, l. 18 – 157, l. 2; R. 156, ll. 16-23; R. 157, ll. 3-7.

Apparently, Gilliard did not understand the rulings, because when he was subsequently asked about his “current pending charges” (i.e., the murder and attempted murders), he stated: “I have PWID in a school zone; and unlawful carrying in a school zone.” However, there was no explanation of what “PWID” stood for, or that the PWID offense involved cocaine. There was no explanation of what Gilliard was unlawfully carrying—a gun. Additionally, there was no mention that he had been *convicted* of the PWID cocaine—Gilliard said it was pending.<sup>13</sup>

Codefendant Keith Evans was the other person who claimed that Appellant handed Justin Wilson a gun. Keith Evans met with the prosecutor several times<sup>14</sup> prior to trial, according to his trial testimony, and he had entered into a proffer agreement. Evans admittedly lied during the proffer. Evans had been housed in the same unit at the detention center as Daquan Gilliard. Evans said he was in court to “tell a story.” Evans hoped his testimony would get him a “deal.”<sup>15</sup>

Appellant was convicted as indicted. As noted in the Statement of the Case, a reconstruction hearing was held in this matter. This was because, as stated by the trial court during pretrial matters,

**I don’t take speaking objections[.] So if you have an objection, you should be able to tell me succinctly what that objection is, whether it’s leading, pitting, relevance, you know the plethora of objections, foundation. And if I need argument, I’ll have it at the bench. I always have my bench conferences recorded. And if I**

---

<sup>13</sup> R. 159, ll. 24-25.

<sup>14</sup> The transcript reflects Evans answered, “Yes, sir,” when the prosecutor asked if Evans had met with him “a couple of times,” but also reflects that when asked how many times, Evans answered, “Thirty-three times.” R. 583, ll. 19-23. It appears likely Evans answered, “two or three times,” and the answer was incorrectly transcribed, since Evans later stated he met with the prosecutor three times. R. 584, l. 18 – 585, l. 11.

<sup>15</sup> R. 583, l. 19 – 584, l. 17; R. 705, l. 2 – 706, l. 13; R. 637, ll. 6-21; R. 703, l. 24 – 709, l. 12.

need to excuse the jury, I will hear additional argument, but I will rule contemporaneously.<sup>16</sup>

(emphasis added). However, when the case was initially transcribed, it became apparent that the bench conferences were not fully recorded—none of the bench conferences were transcribed. The court reporter was subsequently able to produce an additional transcript which reflected portions of the bench conferences, but many portions were still missing. *See* R. 1052 – 1088. A reconstruction hearing was held, and testimony was taken from the prosecutor and from defense counsel. The trial judge read her notes into the record. *See* R. 1089 – 1165. The court denied Appellant’s motion for a new trial based on inadequate reconstruction, and ruled the record was reconstructed.<sup>17</sup>

---

<sup>16</sup> R. 52, ll. 5-13.

<sup>17</sup> R. 52, ll. 5-13; R. 1162, ll. 17-18; R. 1157, l. 14 – 1159, l. 6.

## ARGUMENT

### 1.

**The trial court erred in ruling Appellant could not impeach Daquan Gilliard with a 2014 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, where the court ruled the conviction was not a crime of dishonesty and thus was inadmissible pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, since admissibility was instead controlled by Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, because the crime was punishable in excess of one year.**

The court erroneously applied Rule 609(a)(2) (crimes of dishonesty) when it ruled on the admissibility of Gilliard’s three-year-old conviction for PWID cocaine.<sup>18</sup> The court should have instead applied Rule 609(a)(1) (crimes punishable by imprisonment in excess of one year). This was an error of law.

#### ***Standard of review***

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial court’s discretion, provided the trial court conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019) (cleaned up). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006).

---

<sup>18</sup> The court also stated it was excluding the conviction under Rule 609(b), which governs the admissibility of crimes more than ten years old. However, this appears to be a misstatement—there was no contention the conviction was more than ten years old.

## ***Discussion***

In 2013, PWID cocaine, first offense, carried up to fifteen years' imprisonment. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B)(1) (2010). Therefore, Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE; Rule 403, SCRE; and *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000), provided the applicable framework for admissibility. However, the trial court applied the wrong subsection of Rule 609, SCRE. It did not apply the *Colf* factors. It did not engage in Rule 403 balancing, although the court stated that if it were to engage in Rule 403 balancing, it would come down on the side of admission.

Rule 609 governs impeachment by evidence of criminal convictions, and it provides:

(a) General Rule. For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,

**(1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and**

(2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

For the purposes of this rule, a conviction includes a conviction resulting from a trial or any type of plea, including a plea of *nolo contendere* or a plea pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

(b) Time Limit. Evidence of a conviction under this rule is not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction, whichever is the later date, unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect. However, evidence of a conviction more than 10 years old as

calculated herein, is not admissible unless the proponent gives to the adverse party sufficient advance written notice of intent to use such evidence to provide the adverse party with a fair opportunity to contest the use of such evidence.

(emphasis added).

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that, “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” In *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000), the Supreme Court explained the following factors are to be considered when weighing the probative value of prior convictions against the prejudicial effect to the accused: “1) The impeachment value of the prior crime. 2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history. 3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime. 4) The importance of the defendant’s testimony. 5) The centrality of the credibility issue.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 594, 828 S.E.2d 203, 211 (2019) (citing *Colf*, 337 S.C. at 627, 525 S.E.2d at 248). The Rule 403 test places the burden upon the opponent of the evidence to establish inadmissibility pursuant to Rule 403.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 593, 828 S.E.2d at 210. “[U]nder Rule 609(a)(1), if the witness is someone other than the accused and has a prior conviction of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year, the trial court must balance the *Colf* factors and determine whether, under Rule 403, the probative value of the conviction is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and/or other relevant considerations set forth in Rule 403.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 595, 828 S.E.2d at 211.

“The current state of the law does not mandate the trial court make an on-the-record specific finding as long as the record reveals that the trial judge did engage in a meaningful balancing of the probative value and the prejudicial effect before admitting a non-609(a)(2) prior

conviction under 609(a)(1).” *State v. Elmore*, 368 S.C. 230, 238–39, 628 S.E.2d 271, 275 (Ct. App. 2006) (cleaned up). “However, as we have urged trial courts, when balancing the probative value of a prior conviction under Rule 609(a)(1) against the prejudicial effect, meaningful appellate review is best achieved when the trial court articulates its ruling and the basis for it.” *Id.* (cleaned up).

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