**RECEIVED**

**Dec 19 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellant Case No. 2017-001468

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

v.

MARVIN DONTE BRYAN,

APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 111549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

Scarlett A. Wilson  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street

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

### **ARGUMENTS**

- 1. Trial court did not err in ruling that Appellant could not impeach co-defendant Daquan Gilliard with his 2014 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, where the court correctly found this cannot be considered a crime of dishonesty and the prejudicial effect would override any probative value this impeachment may have.**

#### **Relevant Facts**

During trial co-defendant Daquan Gilliard testified. Prior to cross-examination Appellant's trial counsel wished to ask him questions regarding a 2013 arrest and 2014 conviction for the offense of possession with intent to distribute cocaine. The trial court stated that the Supreme Court determined that a drug offense is not probative for truthfulness. (R. p. 150 l. 13-14). Appellant's trial counsel was willing not to raise the offense but to say that he was arrested and convicted. (R. p. 150, 15-18) The trial court responded that an arrest is not probative for truthfulness. (R. p. 150

l. 19). The trial court decided not to allow the Appellant to get into the prior drug conviction of Mr. Gilliard since it is not a crime of dishonesty.

### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The materiality, relevance, and admissibility of evidence are within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rosemond*, 335 S.C. 593, 596, 518 S.E.2d 588, 589 (1999). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Anderson*, 386 S.C. 120, 126, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014). The scope of cross-examination is within the discretion of the trial court, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of prejudice. *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 624, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000).

### Discussion

The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in deciding that Appellant could not ask Mr. Gilliard about his possession with the intent to distribute cocaine conviction back in 2014. The Rule that governs the impeachment by a conviction of a crime is Rule 609 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence which states:

For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,  
(1) evidence that a witness other than the accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and

- (2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

Rule 609(a)(1-2), SCRE.

Prior to making a decision of whether a person should be asked about his prior record the rules require that the trial court make a Rule 403 analysis and make a determination of whether the inclusion of the witnesses' prior conviction's probative value exceeds any prejudicial effect. Rule 609 requires the trial court articulate specific facts and circumstances supporting its determination that the probative value of the evidence substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect. *Colf*, 337 S.C. at 626, 525 S.E.2d at 248.

In *State v. Colf*, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated that the court apply five factors that are used in Federal Court to make this determination. These five factors are: (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5) The centrality of the credibility issue. *Id.*, 337 S.C. at 627. However, the Supreme Court did not make these criteria mandatory. In *Colf* the court also determined, "these factors are not exclusive; trial courts should exercise their discretion in light of the facts and circumstances of each particular case. *Id.*

In the final determination the trial court stated:

"Yeah I can't find anything that would support you being able – the whole purpose of using a prior crime to impeach somebody's credibility is it involved false statement or dishonesty. A crime in and of itself does not impeach a person's credibility. It more tends to involve their character. In other words, saying because they were convicted of something that they are a bad person and you shouldn't believe them. The only exception to that rule is 609(b) which deals with crimes of dishonesty or involving moral turpitude. Because then that implicates the person's veracity."

"Now if they impersonated a police officer, of course, that involved dishonesty. Shoplifting is dishonesty as long as it was a theft. Burglary is dishonesty as long as

it involved a theft. And even if it involved all those things, I would still would have to engage in the balancing test that it's more probative than prejudicial, which means – and of course in this case I think it would meet that standard because credibility is an issue. But I think when you start talking about drug offenses, it's more of a character issue than a truthfulness issue. Because you're saying by virtue of the fact that they've been convicted of a drug offense, they shouldn't be believed because they're dishonest.”

(T. p. 152 l. 7-17; p. 153 l. 11-23).

The trial court was correct in applying the balancing test regarding mentioning if a person's conviction for drug offenses reveals any evidence that is more probative than prejudicial. The prejudice that this would involve certainly overrides any probative value due to the fact the Supreme Court has already decided that drug offenses are not crimes of dishonesty. A conviction for robbery, burglary, theft or drug possession beyond the basic crime itself is not probative of truthfulness. *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155 (2006), *also see*, *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 596, 828 S.E.2d 203, 211 (2019).

The reasoning by the trial court was proper. The Appellant cannot bring up prior convictions of drug offenses in order to impeach the witness when the Supreme Court has determined that a drug offense is not a question of moral turpitude. The trial court was absolutely correct when it reasoned that if this was presented then, they would be telling the jury that he is not being truthful, not because he had committed a past crime regarding something dishonest, but he cannot be trusted because he committed a crime four years earlier when he has already served his punishment. (R. 150 4-6). The prejudicial effect clearly outweighs any probative value that could come from mentioning this prior offense. The trial court applied a Rule 403 analysis as prescribed by the Rules of Evidence and made a lawful decision in not allowing this to be raised in cross-examination. This decision by the trial court should be upheld.

- 2. The trial court did not violate Appellant’s right to confrontation by not allowing the Appellant to ask Mr. Gilliard about a previous conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, this is not a crime of dishonesty and the reasoning for the Appellant asking about this conviction goes against the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.**

### Relevant Facts

During trial the Appellant argued that he should be able to question Mr. Gilliard on his past conviction in order to reveal to the jury that he is no stranger to the courtroom. The Appellant argues that he should be given latitude in the cross-examination of the witness.

### Standard of Review

The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial court’s discretion, provided the trial court conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law. *State v. Dunlap*, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001). The starting point in the analysis is the degree to which the prior conviction had probative value, meaning the tendency to prove the issue at hand, the witnesses’ propensity for truthfulness or credibility. *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 21, 732 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012). The scope of cross-examination is within the discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of prejudice. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 399 S.E.2d 595 (1991).

### Discussion

The Appellant argues that he should have been given latitude in the cross-examination of Mr. Gilliard. The Appellant feels that he should have been allowed to ask questions regarding the past conviction of Mr. Gilliard in order to reveal that Mr. Gilliard was no stranger to the courtroom. The mentioning of a person’s prior record, while he is a witness in a case, is not for the purpose of revealing that they have been in a courtroom before, it is for the purpose of attacking a witness’s credibility. Rule 609 clearly states, “For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness.” Rule

609, SCRE. The Appellant has no right to ask a person about their prior criminal history in order to reveal they have been in a courtroom before. The fact that a witness has been in a courtroom before is not relevant and a witness should not allowed to be asked about a prior conviction for only that purpose. The Appellant should only be given some leeway in cross-examination if it abides to the rules of court. This certainly does not. Rule 609 was not created for the purpose of making the jury realize that a witness had been in a courtroom before. It is for the purpose of attacking a person's credibility. As stated earlier, the Supreme Court has already ruled that being convicted of a drug offense is not probative of truthfulness, so mention of a prior conviction for a drug offense is not allowed under Rule 609. The denial of this type of questioning by the trial court was proper and should be upheld by this Court.

- 2. Trial court did not err in not allowing Appellant to question Mr. Gillard regarding a pending charge due to the fact asking a question regarding a charge that is still pending raises questions about character which is not allowed under the rules of evidence.**

#### Relevant Facts

The Appellant wished to question Mr. Gilliard on a pending firearms charge in Orangeburg County, even though this trial was held in Charleston County, so this Solicitor's office had no input on that pending charge. The trial court decided that unless they could show there was some deal between the Solicitor's offices in Charleston and Orangeburg, this was not relevant. (R. p. 156 l. 16-19).

#### Standard of Review

The cross-examination of a witness to test his credibility is largely within the discretion of the trial judge, and his discretion whether to allow the contradictory testimony will not be disturbed on appeal except for a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Lynn*, 277 S.C. 222, 284 S.E.2d 786 (1981). Counsel should not be permitted an irrelevant or speculative search in hopes of finding

some misconduct involving moral turpitude by a witness. *State v. McGuire*, 272 S.C. 547, 550, 253 S.E.2d 103, 104 (1979).

### Discussion

The mere fact that a witness has potential criminal exposure does not automatically result in the potential charge being admitted as evidence. *The New Wigmore. A Treatise on Evidence: Impeachment and Rehabilitation*. §6.3.9 (1<sup>st</sup> ed. 2023). According to the Rules of Evidence the only way a person can ask about pending or prior charges is to reveal untruthfulness. The Appellant in this case wished to ask Mr. Gilliard about pending charges in another jurisdiction in order to reveal that he was seeking favor from the solicitor's office. However, he failed to reveal how this testimony would garner him any favor in another jurisdiction. Charleston County is in the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orangeburg is in the First. These are two totally different offices which cannot force each other to give leniency on a pending charge. The only reason that the Appellant wished to ask about pending charges is to bring Mr. Gilliard's character into issue, which is not allowed unless the State opens the door to such questioning. There is no evidence in the record that this occurred.

Within his brief Appellant argues this denial regarding going into his pending charges violates the Confrontation Clause. Trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned; they can impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things: harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant. *Delaware v. VanArsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 677, 106 S.E.2d 1431, 1435 (1986). The fact Mr. Gilliard had pending charges in another county is not relevant to the present case. The trial court was correct in not allowing evidence of pending charges. Unless the Appellant can reveal any possible bias or motive by the witness, the

pending charges are not admissible. The only way they would be able to ask that question is if they can reveal some type of bias under Rule 608(c).<sup>1</sup> The trial court was correct, in order to get into a pending charge the Appellant would have had to reveal some kind of favor Mr. Gilliard was receiving from the First Circuit for this testimony. There is no evidence that any favors were given to Mr. Gilliard by the First Circuit Solicitor's office. Therefore, this information was not relevant and not admissible. The trial court made the correct decision in not allowing Mr. Gilliard's pending charges into evidence.

- 3. The trial court did not err in ruling that the record was adequately reconstructed due to the fact the transcript from the original trial was still available and the reconstruction only included bench conferences none of which had anything to do with the issues raised within this appeal.**

#### Relevant Facts

On August 22, 2018, Appellant filed a motion to reconstruct the record of the bench conferences during the original trial. This motion was made due to the fact all arguments during trial were via bench conferences, and there was no record of these conversations. On November 8, 2018, this Court granted the motion and ordered Appellant to contact the Respondent and trial judge in order to schedule a hearing to reconstruct the record.

The record was reconstructed revealing the conversations that were held during the bench conferences. Appellant now argues that the trial court erred in ruling that the record on the bench conferences was adequately reconstructed.

---

<sup>1</sup> Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced. Rule 608(c), SCRE.

### Standard of Review

A new trial is therefore appropriate if the appellant establishes that “the incomplete nature of the transcript prevents the appellate court from conducting a ‘meaningful appellate review.’” *State v. Ladson*, 373 S.C. 320, 325, 644 S.E.2d 271, 274 (2007), quoting, *In re D.W.*, 171 N.C. App., 496, 615 S.E.2d 90, 94 (2005).

### Discussion

The Appellant alleges that there is not a complete record on appeal in order for this court to make an informed decision regarding the issues that have been brought up on appeal. This is due to the record of the bench conferences that was recreated. The Respondent argues that the record is complete. There is enough within the record for this Court to be able to make a meaningful review.

There is a complete seven hundred eleven (711) page transcript of the entire trial within the record. There is also an additional three hundred forty (340) page transcript of witness testimony and a thirty-seven (37) page reconstructed transcript of the bench conferences. Each issue that was brought up in appeal has been addressed and ruled upon by the trial court. The bench conferences had nothing to do with any of these issues so the recreation was irrelevant.

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